IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,404

THOMAS M. OVERTON,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender, Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida (305) 545-1960

MARIA E. LAUREDO Assistant Public Defender, Florida Bar No. 0059412

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and a sentence of death, entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Mark Jones of the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Monroe County, Florida. In this brief, the record on appeal is cited as "R.," and the transcript of the proceedings as "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Introduction

On August 22,1991, Michael MacIvor and his wife Susan MacIvor were found murdered in their home on Tavernier Key (R. 1). Michael MacIvor was hit on the head with a blunt object and strangled (R. 1, 3624-5). Susan MacIvor, who was eight months pregnant, was also strangled (R. 1). She was found naked and bound in the bedroom of the house (R. 1).

A large-scale investigation took place involving the Monroe County

Sheriff's Office, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), the Federal

Drug Enforcement Administration, U.S. Customs, the FBI, and other law
enforcement agencies (T. 4400-1, 4413; R. 768). The crime was one of the most
highly publicized in Florida Keys history (R. 742-834). Multiple newspaper
articles were published, television crime reenactments were aired, and billboards
were erected showing a picture of the couple and offering rewards for any
information concerning the killings (T. 4426; R. 768, 777, 831). Tourist leaders
feared that the publicity would affect the islands' business interests (R. 777). One

editorial discussing the crime lamented that the Keys had lost the "innocence that once seduced many . . . to make these islands [their] home" (R. 767). Years passed from the date of the murders and no arrests were made (T. 1, 4426-7).

B. Events Leading to the Arrest of Mr. Overton

(1) Investigation of other suspects. The police received multiple tips that the MacIvor murders were drug-related (R. 786). Michael MacIvor bought and sold airplanes for a living (T. 3037, 4331). He traveled often to conduct business in South America (T. 3035, 4326, 4331). Several of his business contacts were investigated (T. 4353-63, 4402-13).

Just before the murder, MacIvor went to a government auction in Belize to buy an airplane which the government had seized because it had been used for drug trafficking (T. 4326, 4331, 4358). MacIvor was due to return to Belize to retrieve it the day after his death (R. 4331). One of the MacIvors' Tavernier neighbors, Joiy Holder, testified that in their last conversation MacIvor intimated that he needed to borrow money, but ultimately did not (T. 3075). The police investigated MacIvor's bank records and could not trace the \$13,000 that he used to purchase the Belize aircraft (T. 4432).

Detectives traveled to Belize to speak to the friend with whom MacIvor had stayed, to interview the officials in charge of the auction, and to investigate the unsuccessful bidders (T. 4326, 4353-4, 4360). The detectives learned that Mr. MacIvor had traveled to a jungle airstrip and remained there for several days (T.

4361). The police were told that MacIvor went to see "pyramids or something" in a park (T. 4361).

Law enforcement officials also investigated leads connected to another airplane (T. 4409). A man named Donald Codekas had purchased this airplane and was missing the logbooks that documented the plane's maintenance and past repairs (T. 4409-10). Such logbooks are routinely transferred with an airplane when it is sold (T. 4409). The police received information that Michael MacIvor possessed the logbooks and was attempting to sell them (T. 4410). The logbooks were never found (T. 4410-11).

Another prominent lead in the investigation involved two Colombian suspects, Nestor and Ivan Clavejo (T. 4402). The police received information from at least two sources that Michael MacIvor had sold the Clavejo brothers a Cessna 404 Titan and had received a \$250,000 down-payment from them (T. 4402, 4429). MacIvor's bank records did not reflect a deposit in this amount (T. 4430). Investigators were never able to locate the Clavejos¹ (T. 4402).

Numerous other suspects were investigated in the years that followed the murders: the MacIvors' handy-man Larry Herlth, their neighbor Joiy Rae Holder, someone named John Golightly, identified by an anonymous tipster, and several others (T. 4404, 4408-14, 4426). The police even consulted a psychic in Orlando (T. 3513-4). All of the leads proved fruitless (T. 4404-14, 4426-7).

¹Later, the primary source for this lead, Mr. Codekas, told the police that he had provided false information to secure a deal from the government (T. 4403, 4430).

(2) Investigation of Mr. Overton. In 1991, Thomas Overton, then 36-years-old, was living on Tavernier Key and working at an Amoco gasoline station near the MacIvor home (R. 1; T. 4428, 4431). Members of the Monroe County Sheriff's Office suspected Mr. Overton as early as 1991 because he was a known "cat burglar," but Overton had no history of sexual offenses (T. 513-4, 1188). Mr. Overton was at one point a suspect in the murder of a woman named Rachel Surrett, but was never charged with that crime (R. 1188; T. 513-4).

Mr. Overton was formally identified as a suspect during an FBI "brainstorming session" in May of 1992 (T. 4385-6, 4413). The police nevertheless took no steps at that time to investigate whether Overton was working at the Amoco station on the night of the murders (T. 4388, 4414-5). Amoco destroyed the 1991 employee records in 1993 (T. 4428).

(3) Police set-up to arrest Mr. Overton for unrelated offenses. No probable cause existed to arrest Thomas Overton for the MacIvor murders (T. 503-4, 514). So, some time in 1993 or 1994, the police began to use confidential informants to attempt to arrest Mr. Overton for an unrelated offense for the purpose of procuring a sample of his blood to be compared to evidence from the MacIvor crime scene (T. 516-7, 3316). In one undercover operation, a wired informant attempted to sell Mr. Overton an "Uzi" firearm (T. 3316). The operation was unsuccessful (T. 3317).

In October 1996, while Mr. Overton was under police surveillance, a

confidential informant assisted the police in arresting him for the burglary of a trailer (R. 755; T. 503-4). The police told Mr. Overton that they would consider releasing him in exchange for a blood sample for DNA testing, but he declined to give one (T. 505). The police had never informed Overton that he was a suspect in the five-year-old MacIvor homicides (T. 505).

(4) Police procure Mr. Overton's blood and arrest him for the MacIvor homicides. After the burglary arrest, the police locked Mr. Overton in an isolation cell, under a 15-minute watch (T. 525, 560). Nevertheless, when Overton asked for a razor blade, he was given one, and Overton cut a deep gash on his neck while in the shower ² (T. 526, 535-6, 553). Corrections officers pressed towels to the wound and sent them to the FDLE crime laboratory for DNA testing (T. 512, 537).

The FDLE declared that Overton's blood matched semen that was found on bed sheets collected from the MacIvor home during the initial crime scene investigation in 1991 (T. 3863-4122). In November 1996, five years after the crime, Thomas Overton was charged with two counts of first degree murder, burglary, sexual battery, and murder of an unborn child (R. 1-2, 8-15).

The state's evidence against Mr. Overton consisted of: 1) two DNA tests that matched Overton's blood sample to semen that the state contended was found

²Corrections Officer William Sheriff testified that it was the jail policy to provide even prisoners in isolation cells with a "safety razor" if they requested one (T. 526). Overton was facing life in prison for the armed burglary of the trailer, had been diagnosed with depression, and had attempted suicide in the past (T. 573). *See* § 810.02(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1999).

on the MacIvors' bed-sheets, and 2) the testimony of two jailhouse snitches (T. 3701-3808, 3863-4122, 4139-4244). From the outset, Mr. Overton has consistently maintained that he did not commit this crime (R. 2). The defense position was that the DNA tests were incorrect, or, in the alternative, that Mr. Overton's semen must have been planted (T. 1166). Specifically, the defense asserted that the evidence collected at the crime scene in 1991 was mishandled, compromised, and contaminated, and that the semen tested by the FDLE may have been obtained from a condom supplied by Overton's then-girlfriend Lorna Swaybe and planted on the bed sheets (T. 3936, 4364-5, 4729, 4730, 4734-6).

C. Handling of Potential Serological Evidence by Pope

The murders of Michael and Susan MacIvor took place some time after 9:00 p.m. on the night of August 21, 1991 (T. 3032-4). The bodies were found at the MacIvor home the following afternoon (T. 3058-64). "Dr." Donald Pope³ was responsible for the collection, handling, and testing of all serological evidence, such as blood, saliva, sweat, or semen, found at the crime scene (T. 3284, 3338).

Pope used an instrument known as the luma light that detects potential serological evidence by causing it to luminesce (T. 3339-40). The instrument does not positively identify these substances, but is used as a "first step" to detect fluids not visible to the unaided eye (T. 3127, 3265). The luma light instrument was new to the Monroe County Sheriff's Department in 1991 and had never before been

³Pope was a veterinarian, but took a job as a serologist (T. 3328).

used to investigate a potential sexual assault case (T. 3224-6). Prior to this investigation, Pope had attended a one-week workshop offered by the manufacturer of the instrument, and had practiced with it on his own (T. 3435-7). Using the luma light, Pope identified possible semen evidence both on the body of Susan MacIvor, which was allegedly collected on cotton swabs, and on the couple's bed sheets (T. 3347, 3351).

(1) The cotton swabs. Three areas of Susan MacIvor's body luminesced under the light, indicating possible semen evidence (T.3193-4, 3348, 3446). Pope testified that on August 22, 1991 he collected the suspect semen from these areas using cotton-tipped swabs and placed the swabs in three coin envelopes (T. 3348-9). However, the envelopes were dated August 23, 1991 (T. 3423-4). Detective Robert Petrick, who investigated the crime scene with Pope, did not see Pope collect this evidence (T. 3226-8, 3229). Although property receipts were prepared for most items of evidence collected at the crime scene, none were prepared for the swabs (T. 3227, 3451).

Nor did Pope take the swabs to a certified storage facility (T. 3480). Instead, he took them to his home, where he "air dried" them and placed them in his personal refrigerator (T. 3481, 3393). Dr. James Pollack, the FDLE serologist, testified that this is not the proper procedure for the collection of potential semen evidence (T. 4031, 4036).

On August 23, 1991, Pope took the swabs from his refrigerator to

Fishermen's Hospital, where Dr. Robert Nelms conducted the autopsies (T. 3422). At the autopsy, additional swabs were taken from Susan MacIvor's mouth, vagina and rectum (T. 3423, 3582-4). Pope testified that he placed the swabs collected at the crime scene, as well as those collected at the autopsy, in a sexual assault kit which he gave to a police officer, who checked it into custody (T. 3300, 3323-4). The property receipt created for the sexual assault kit did not reflect the presence of the semen swabs allegedly collected at the crime scene (T. 3586).

At some point thereafter, Pope conducted presumptive tests for the presence of semen on all of the swabs from the body ⁴ (T. 3424-5, 3427). All of the swabs, including those from the victim's vagina and rectum, tested *negative* for the presence of semen (T. 3425-6, 3583). Although Dr. Nelms testified that swabs from the body are usually the best evidence in cases involving a potential sexual assault (T. 3674), Pope persisted in the belief that there was semen on Susan MacIvor's body: He hypothesized that the semen test results were negative because heat and humidity had caused Ms. MacIvor's body to decompose and the seminal fluid to degrade (T. 3130, 3427). However, Dr. Nelms testified that Michael MacIvor's body did not show signs of decomposition (T. 3677). And Dr. Ronald Wright, a forensic pathologist, characterized the negative semen test results as "exceptionally surpris[ing]" given the relatively short period between

⁴Pope did not testify as to when these tests were conducted (T. 3326-3594). Moreover, the record is silent as to how the swab evidence was stored once it was checked into custody (T. 3288-3594).

the time of death and the time the swabs were collected (T. 4501-2).

Some time after Mr. Overton's arrest, the police decided to submit all the swabs to the FDLE crime laboratory for testing, but could not find them. (T. 4372-3). When questioned, Pope could not recall where he had put them (T. 4372). Ultimately the swabs were found in the sexual assault kit and sent to the FDLE, which determined that the swabs were negative for the presence of semen⁵ (T. 3969,4031-2, 4372).

(2) The bed sheets. Pope testified that he also used the luma light to identify and mark potential semen stains on the MacIvor bed sheets (T. 3351). The stains were located on the bottom sheet and on the mattress pad (T. 3191, 3354-6, 3399). Pope cut a small piece of the stained bed sheet evidence for his "own purposes," with the intent to test this evidence "not through the laborious process of case notes" but for his "own particular interest" (T. 3351).

Pope and Petrick then folded the sheets and placed them in paper bags, which Petrick took to the Marathon evidence vault (T. 3194-7, 3356). Two days later, they were released to Pope for serological testing (T. 3197-8).

As he did with the swabs, Pope took the bed sheets *home* because, he said, the property room was closed and he needed to hang the evidence to dry (T. 3393). But Petrick testified that the sheets appeared very dry at the crime scene (T. 3224).

Pope hung the bed sheets in the "guest room, office, catch all" area of his

⁵The FDLE serologist speculated that bacteria from the body may have degraded any sperm cells (T. 3971).

home, using clotheslines to hang the sheets in a horizontal "dipped" position, without placing paper underneath the sheets to preserve possible trace evidence (T. 3393-4, 3505, 3535). According to Dr. Pollack, it is improper to take serological evidence to one's home and to hang it in this manner (T. 4027-30).

On August 26, 1991, Pope took the bed sheets to the police property room (T. 3395-6). However, he checked the evidence out of the property room the same day, and took it to his lab in Key West, where he tested the small bed sheet cutting he had made at the crime scene for his "own purposes" (T. 3395-6, 3427, 3432). Pope claimed this cutting tested positive for semen, but was consumed during testing, and therefore never submitted for DNA analysis (T. 3432, 3518, 3552).

More than two weeks after the alleged positive test of the consumed cutting, Pope made 10 more cuttings from the stained areas of the MacIvor's bottom sheet and mattress pad, and placed those cuttings in *unsealed* envelopes (T. 3406-7, 3419-21, 3520, 3818). Over the next year-and-a-half, Pope kept these unsealed envelopes initially in the *unlocked* refrigerator of his Key West lab⁶, then later in a locked refrigerator-freezer in his Marathon lab (T. 3416, 3420, 3523-5). There are no notes that document how, when, or by whom the cuttings in the unsealed envelopes were transferred to Marathon (T. 3523-5, 3549). Pope did not test the cuttings until October 1992, more than one year after they were "stored" (T. 3521).

⁶Pope testified the lab was locked but the refrigerator was not (T. 3420). There was no evidence showing that Pope was the only person with access to the lab.

Presumptive tests were positive for semen⁷ (T. 3410, 3420).

Six months later, in April of 1993, Pope resigned from the Monroe County Sheriff's office (T. 3417). All of the evidence in his possession was then transferred to the crime laboratory supervisor in Key West, who delivered about six containers full of envelopes to the property room custodian (T. 3417, 3693, 3695, 3831-2). It was not until then that the envelopes containing the MacIvor bed sheet evidence were finally sealed, and property receipts created documenting the existence of this evidence (T. 3494, 3818, 3836). Two months later the envelopes were finally sent to the FDLE for DNA testing (T. 3890-1).

D. DNA Tests of the Bed Sheet Evidence

(1) The first DNA test. Dr. Robert Pollack, an FDLE serologist, received the bed sheet clippings in June of 1993 (T. 3890-1). Using a method of analysis known as RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism), Pollack extracted DNA from two of the ten cuttings, and developed a DNA profile from five DNA locations or loci that were compared to the DNA from Mr. Overton's blood sample (T. 3876-7, 3942, 3953-4). Using computer imaging to estimate the relative size of profile bands, Pollack concluded that the profile from the bed sheet cuttings "matched" the profile from Mr. Overton's blood sample (T. 3949-50, 3955-6). Pollack testified that the chances of an unrelated individual having the same

⁷Pope conducted a P-30 protein test and a sperm search on the mattress pad, and an "alkaline phosphatase" test and sperm search on the sheet (T. 3410, 3420).

profile exceeded one in six billion (T. 3960, 4021).

On cross-examination, Pollack explained that RFLP testing cannot measure the exact size or composition of DNA fragments, but that a match is declared where bands are close enough in size to fall within the particular laboratory's accepted "match window" (T. 3981). Dr. Pollack admitted that measurement imprecision increases where bands exceed 10,000 base pairs in length, and that while some laboratories refuse to interpret these "upper region" bands, his laboratory does not: Fragments from one of the five loci examined were in excess of the 10,000 base pair limit (T. 3997, 4018-9).

(2) The second DNA test, and the State's failure to disclose documents necessary to determine the validity of that test. In February 1998, over one year after Mr. Overton was charged with this offense, the state announced that it might be seeking a second DNA test by an independent private laboratory called the "Bode Technology Group," which is located in Virginia (R. 1; T. 301, 4053-6). The second test would involve a newer DNA testing method known as "STR" or short tandem repeats (T. 462, 1068-9).

In June 1998, the parties reached an agreement regarding access to the bed sheet evidence: The state would first conduct its second DNA test; the defense would then perform its own testing on the remaining evidence for the presence of nonoxynol, a substance found in condoms, to corroborate the defense claim that Overton's semen was planted on the bed sheet evidence (R. 843; T. 592-3, 773,

815-16, 4493-4). Defense counsel explained to the court that the novel DNA testing sought by the state would require additional discovery (T. 597).

In July 1998, the state disclosed four volumes of new discovery documents unrelated to the second DNA test (T. 632). The state had not yet completed its second DNA test (T. 637; R. 956). Because of the state's late discovery disclosure, the court granted a continuance until January 11, 1999 (T. 650-1). The court had previously granted one joint continuance and one defense continuance (T. 250-2, 259, 422-8). The court announced this would be the final continuance (T. 650-1).

The Bode Technology Group finally completed the STR testing in October 1998, and submitted a brief summary of its findings, stating that the semen evidence provided by the state matched Mr. Overton's blood sample (R. 954; T. 760). On November 2, 1998, the defense filed a discovery request regarding the new DNA test seeking, *inter alia*, copies of the laboratory protocols, all validation studies relating to the testing method, and proficiency testing records of the laboratory personnel⁸ (R. 526-33).

On December 18, 1998, defense counsel informed the court that the state had not yet complied with the STR testing discovery request, and that a continuance might be necessary (T. 754). On December 22, 1998, approximately three weeks prior to the trial date, defense counsel again brought this matter to the

⁸A similar discovery request had been made to the FDLE regarding the first DNA test (R. 104-123). The FDLE supplied the documents requested, and the defense expert reviewed the documents in preparation for trial (T. 794-5).

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