IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS OVERTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC95404

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990 Fax # (904) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

Moreover, this issue is procedurally barred for lack of an

³⁷ The State takes issue with the claim that Mr. Zientek was "the sole provider of the evidence that supported three of the aggravators" and asserts that it was Overton who provided that information through Mr. Zientek. Further, some of that evidence, especially regarding the HAC aggravator as to Mr. MacIvor, was also provided through other witnesses. See A. above. Moreover, in regard to the avoid arrest aggravator, there was corroborating evidence that indicated that Overton and Mrs. MacIvor knew each other: Ms. Kerns had been with Susan when she stopped for gas at the Amoco Station where Overton worked and which was only "a couple of minutes" from the MacIvor home. (R 3044). Mr. Holder, was also familiar with that Amoco Station which was "only a half a mile down the roadway." (R 3056). Agent Daniels confirmed that Overton worked at that Amoco station in August of 1991 and also learned that Overton "worked at night primarily." (R 4428, 4431).

objection and submission of a proposed instruction because Overton has not carried his burden to show that the failure to give such an instruction is fundamental error. It is not.

Fundamental error is error which goes to the foundation of the case. Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1970). Failure to give an instruction unnecessary to prove an essential element of the crime charged is not fundamental error. . . Because the complained-of instruction went to Sochor's defense and not to an essential element of the crime charged, an objection was necessary to preserve this issue on appeal.

Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 290 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1025 (1993).

In Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 197 (1996), this Court reiterated the well-established rule "that jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, . . . and absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred." Such error is present only if "'a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" 673 So. 2d at 20 (quoting State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)). This Court concluded that the "failure to define reasonable doubt to the jury in the sentencing phase of a capital trial is not fundamental error." Id. at 20.

This Court also concluded that Archer's claim that the trial court should have instructed the jury on principals was not preserved for appeal because no objection was made at trial. *Id.* 20-21. Moreover, this Court said that the failure to give even a general or miscellaneous jury instruction on principals did "not

constitute fundamental error." Id. at 21.

In Pope v. State, 679 So. 2d 710 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 975 (1997), fundamental error in the failure to give a limiting instruction regarding the consideration of collateral crime evidence was alleged. Pope contended that the court should have told the jury that "the battery was relevant solely to prove motive." 679 So. 2d at 714. This Court rejected the claim that the failure to give that "limiting instruction" was fundamental error, and found it procedurally barred for failure to request an instruction. Id.

The State submits that the instruction that Overton claims the trial court should have given despite his failure to request it, or object to the instructions as given, is also a type of limiting instruction. He now complains that the jury should have been told to use "great caution in relying on the snitch's testimony," (IB 91), although he has not even now presented a proposed instruction. The instruction would limit the consideration of the evidence from the informant by placing it in a special category requiring much greater scrutiny. Thus, a request for the instruction at trial was required to preserve the issue for appellate review.

Overton appears to confine the fundamental error component of his claim to the situation where "an informant's testimony is uncorroborated." (IB 95). In that instance, he claims, "the need for a special instruction is so great that the failure to give it is plain error requiring reversal, even absent a request" (IB 95). Overton cannot meet the prerequisite of his own standard.

In the instant case, Mr. Zientek's testimony that Overton told him that he killed the MacIvors and raped Mrs. MacIvor was corroborated by the fact that Overton's DNA was found at the crime Two separate DNA tests were run on this evidence by two scene. separate organizations and two different doctors, and both showed that unquestionably, Overton was the donor of the DNA found at the Indeed, the RFLP DNA test showed that "one on the face of scene. the earth" could have matched the DNA on the MacIvors' bed sheet, and that one is Thomas Overton! The medical examiner's description of the nature and effect of the injuries inflicted upon the MacIvors, including the baby, further corroborated the informer's description of the acts Overton took against the victims. Susan's friend corroborated the part of the informant's testimony which indicated that, and how, Susan and Overton were acquainted. Mr. Holder's testimony, as well as that of some of the officers, corroborated the informant's testimony regarding the burglary tools used, including the placement of the ladder, as well as the weather conditions and time of the crime. It likewise corrborated the informant's testimony regarding the positioning of Michael's body and the confusing of the crime scene. Susan's sister's testimony regarding missing photos of Susan corroborated the informant's testimony that Overton claimed to have taken things from the crime scene which "nobody would realize were gone." (R 4168). Clearly, there was a great deal of evidence which corroborated the testimony of the informer, and therefore, the error in not giving the

instruction, if any, was not fundamental **under the standard Overton advanced** in his brief.

More importantly, it is not fundamental under the standards this Court has articulated in its caselaw for many, many years. Neither Overton's citations to three out-of-state decisions,³⁸ nor his references to jury instructions given by some federal courts provide any basis to unsettle the law of this state. Overton is entitled to no relief.

POINT IX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS CONSIDERATION OF AVAILABLE MITIGATION.

Overton complains that the trial court "failed to consider and weigh the mitigating evidence found by defense counsel, in violation of *Farr v. State."* (IB 98). He concedes that "[t]he trial court complied with *Koon."* (IB 98). However, he claims that the court should have required counsel "to proffer the existing

³⁸ Dodd v. State, 993 P.2d 778, 783 (Okla. Crim. App. 2000) was reversed because cross-examination as to prior inconsistent statements of the inmate made in recantation letters was precluded; it did **not** concern any jury instruction of the nature Overton urges. In *State v. Allison*, 910 P.2d 817, 820 (Kan. 1996), the appellate court upheld the trial court's **denial** of a defense requested special instruction that testimony of a witness who gives it in exchange for benefits from the state should be considered with caution. In McNeal v. State, 551 So. 2d 151, 158 (Miss. 1989), the jailhouse snitch's testimony was "strongly question[ed]" by the Court "[d]ue to the uncertainty of [his] source for his facts (newspaper or McNeal))." The evidence was that Mr. Zientek's information came from Overton, not from newspapers or law enforcement; moreover, the exact burglary kit Overton described to Zientek was found in Overton's vehicle in connection with investigation of the Surette homicide and much of what Zientek reported Overton told him was corroborated by others.

mitigating evidence" for the court's consideration even though Overton confirmed that he did not want any mitigation presented and had instructed his attorneys not to file the memorandum they had written proffering the available mitigation. (IB 99).

In Farr v. State, 621 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1993), this Court said that the trial court must consider mitigation even if the defendant asks for the death penalty, as well as where he asks the court not to consider such evidence. In *Robinson v. State*, 684 So. 2d 175 (Fla. 1996), this Court remanded for resentencing where the sentencing order stated that it did not consider mitigation apparent on the record. This Court held that the sentencing judge has the responsibility "to affirmatively show that all possible mitigation has been considered and weighed." 684 So. 2d at 179. Overton's appellate claim that the lower court declined to consider mitigating evidence as in *Robinson* (IB 99) is incorrect.

In *Hauser v. State*, 701 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 1997), this Court reiterated the standard for review of a sentencing order addressing mitigation: "[T]he sentencing court must give good faith consideration to the mitigation contained in the record." Hauser made "an oral proffer of potential mitigation that could have been investigated," and the court considered the "proffered mitigation as proven." 701 So. 2d at 330. Hauser complained that the court did not "acknowledge each possible mitigating circumstance contained in the PSI." *Id.* This Court said:

[T]he trial court bent over backwards to give full consideration to the proffered mitigation Although the order does not specifically mention the PSI,

it does show a thoughtful and deliberate weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and much of the data contained in the PSI was cumulative to information addressed in the order. We conclude that the court gave good faith consideration to the mitigation contained in the record.

Id. at 330-31.

In the instant case, at commencement of the penalty phase proceeding on February 4, 1999, Defense Counsel advised the trial judge that "over the past two years" Overton had maintained the position that upon conviction, "he does not want any mitigation being presented " (R 4897-98). He said he would present a "to the Court" outlining what had been done in the memo investigation the defense had made (however, Overton later directed his attorneys not to do so). (R 4989, 5035). The judge inquired what had been "ferreted out or pursued," and Defense Counsel replied: "Well, the family background, any type of mental defense or mental mitigation, we attempted to pursue that. Mr. Overton didn't want any of that on. There were some allegations of drug abuse that may have been able to be presented if that was pursued." (R 4900). He said there was a possibility of some mental and/or substance abuse mitigation, and might be something in his family background and upbringing that would be potential mitigation. (R 4900-01). However, Overton "from the very beginning . . . had advised family and friends not to cooperate with any investigations . . . for the penalty phase." (R 4901). An affidavit of one of the two defense investigators was introduced which dealt with the attempts to contact Overton's mother, who utterly refused to

cooperate based on Overton's wishes. (R 4901).

Thereafter, Overton personally expressed his desire not to have any mitigation presented. (R 4902-12). He and the judge had a lengthy discourse during which the judge pointed out what he regarded as possible flaws in Overton's reasoning, trying to convince the man to relent and permit the presentation of mitigation. (R 4902-12). Overton said that the reasons for his decision included that he "didn't commit the crime," felt that he would have a chance to have the jury verdict reversed on appeal, and was "not going to put my family and friends through this stuff." (R 4905, 4906, 4907). The court pointed out that mitigation did not have "to come from family and friends," and explained several other sources of mitigation. (R 4908). Overton remained steadfast in his decision, stating that had it been his family who had been so brutally murdered, nothing would mitigate it; "there's no excuse for what happened." (R 4908-09).

Overton affirmed that his attorneys had tried to talk him into presenting mitigation, and that he had instructed his family and friends not to answer any questions, but refer anyone asking them to him. (R 4909). He laughed at the thought that someone had induced him "to give up this important right," (R 4909), and repeated his desire to "just take it to the appellate court." (R 4910). The judge continued to try to talk him out of his position, further explaining the law. (R 4910-12). Overton said that he was "fully aware of what's going on" and knows "a lot about the process in the courts," and that what he did not know, his attorneys had

already fully explained to him. (R 4911).

Some time later, the judge revisited the issue asking Overton if he had changed his mind about presenting mitigation. (R 4926). Overton remained steadfast in his position. (R 4926). The court found that he had "made a knowing, voluntary decision even in the face of advice from competent counsel to the contrary. So, so be it then." (R 4926). After the jury returned its death recommendation, the court ordered a presentence investigation to be prepared by the Department of Corrections. (R 5027).

At the *Spencer* hearing, held on February 22, 1999, the trial judge revisited the mitigation issue with Overton. (R 5036). Overton stood firm in his desire not to have his attorneys present any evidence of mitigation. (R 5036). Defense Counsel said that an attempt had been made "to go into his background and also his friends, his prior military school, history and . . . inquiry regarding his past military background, school background, . . . past health, medical record" (R 5037). Thereafter, the court again engaged in a lengthy discourse with Overton. (R 5038-5040). Once again, the court found he had "made a knowing and voluntary decision" to waive presentation of mitigation. (R 5040).

On March 18, 1999, the court sentenced Overton. (R 5057). The judge characterized Overton's decision to waive mitigation and prevent his attorneys from even objecting at the penalty phase "as a strategic decision" and noted that he had frustrated any attempts to obtain mitigating information, including refusing to cooperate with the Department of Corrections in preparation of the PSI. (R

5062). Nonetheless, "this Court has endeavored to uncover whatever mitigation may exist." (R 5063). Further, the court found "no evidence . . . to support any statutory mitigating factors" and concluded that "none exist." (R 5063).

The Court

considered . . . specifically family background, military record, employment record, history of substance abuse, mental health. And the Court, after thoroughly analyzing the possibility that some mitigation may exist in these areas, has found none to exist.

(R 5063-64). In his written order, the trial judge addressed each of these factors and explained what it had found in support of same and why he did not regard it to be mitigating in nature. (R 1195-1196). He then proceeded to find two nonstatutory mitigating factors, to-wit: (1) Overton "will be incarcerated for the rest of his life," and (2) during all court proceedings observed by the judge, Overton "has conducted himself in an appropriate manner and has not been a behavioral problem." (R 1196-97). He assigned the former "little weight," and the later, "some weight." (R 1197).

The record in this case shows that the trial court, as did the one in *Hauser*, "bent over backwards" to give full consideration to all mitigation on the record, including that in the PSI. The order shows a careful and deliberate weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Certainly, it can be said that this trial judge gave good faith consideration to the mitigation contained in the record. Thus, he fully discharged his responsibility to show that all possible mitigation has been considered and weighed, and thereby, complied with the dictates of *Farr* and *Robinson*.

Finally, even if the trial court erred in regard to the proffered mitigation of "possible substance abuse" and "existence of mental mitigation," any error was harmless. In *Lawrence v. State*, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1076 (Fla. 1997), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 880 (1997), this Court found a *Farr* error regarding a "history-of-substance-abuse mitigator" harmless "because the mitigator would not have offset the three aggravators that were properly found." In this case, there are five valid aggravators to be weighed against mitigation minuscule in comparison. Thus, any error in regard to the two proposed mitigators is harmless. Overton is entitled to no relief.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out above, Overton's conviction and sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.